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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good morning. I am

          3  Philip Reed the Chair of the Consumer Affairs

          4  Committee.  We are here this morning to take

          5  testimony, and I believe vote on proposed Intro.

          6  67-A.  This legislation would amend the

          7  Administrative Code and Charter of the City of New

          8  York in relation to prohibiting the City from doing

          9  business with institutions that engage directly or

         10  indirectly in predatory lending, and regulating the

         11  participation of home improvement contractors in the

         12  home- loan market.

         13                 I would like to acknowledge my

         14  colleagues who have joined us today, Council Member

         15  Addabbo from Queens, Council Member Liu also from

         16  Queens, Council Member Barron, who is back from

         17  other continents, and from the nation of Brooklyn,

         18  Council Member Koppell from the Bronx, and Council

         19  Member Sanders also from Queens, and Council Member

         20  Foster, I beg your pardon, thank you.

         21                 As most of you know, this Committee

         22  has studied the issue of predatory lending

         23  extensively over the last several months.  We have

         24  held three public hearings on this issue.  We have

         25  assessed the home- loan market in New York City and
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          2  scrutinized the impact of predatory lending

          3  legislation in other jurisdictions.  We have

          4  conducted numerous meetings and had countless

          5  conversations with representatives of the City's

          6  leading financial institutions, various advocacy

          7  groups and other branches of City and State

          8  government.  Through our study we have learned a

          9  great deal about the hard facts of predatory

         10  lending.

         11                 We have discovered how some subprime

         12  lenders often working with unscrupulous mortgage

         13  brokers and home improvement contractors prey on

         14  certain communities and groups, most notably

         15  minorities, low- income citizens, immigrants and

         16  seniors.  We have read that predominantly Black

         17  neighborhoods in New York City are four times more

         18  likely to rely on subprime lending as white

         19  neighborhoods.  And that 31 percent of upper income,

         20  African Americans rely on subprime refinances as

         21  opposed to only 26 percent of low- income whites.

         22  As we have heard how this reliance on subprime

         23  lending results in higher rates, origination fees

         24  and the use of predatory practices for real life

         25  families around our cities.
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          2                 Through this study, I have grown

          3  increasingly certain that the Council must act to

          4  curtail the practice of predatory lending.  I am

          5  convinced, more than ever, that the City should not

          6  conduct business with those entities that engage

          7  either directly or indirectly with predatory

          8  lenders.  Now I believe that the legislation we will

          9  consider today is a thoughtful response to the

         10  problem.  One that will best serve communities at

         11  risk for predatory loans without necessarily

         12  burdening the many legitimate financial institutions

         13  in our City that act with integrity and decency.  It

         14  is the final product of months of study, debate,

         15  analysis and revision, and I think it is a well

         16  reasoned and dynamic bill.

         17                 This morning we will be hearing some

         18  final words on this legislation from some of the

         19  people who have worked along the way to make this

         20  our final draft.  We have invited representative

         21  from the banking institutions, advocacy groups and

         22  other branches of government to offer their

         23  testimony.  Whether or not they choose to speak, I

         24  would like to thank all of those individuals and

         25  organizations for their genuine concern for the
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          2  victims of predatory lending, and their active

          3  participation in the process. We very much

          4  appreciate the work that has been put into this

          5  bill, and we look forward to working with you on

          6  these and other issues in the future.

          7                 Before we move into testimony, well,

          8  I think I will skip that part.  After we have taken

          9  testimony on this, we will be joined by the Consumer

         10  Affairs Commissioner, there are a couple of other

         11  issues that she wants to raise, so, I just wanted to

         12  point that out to you.  I also do not know if all of

         13  the Council have had a chance to meet Deborah Brown,

         14  our new Committee Counsel who have been doing a

         15  terrific job in getting up to speed on this

         16  legislation and making sure it is in its final

         17  package.  So I want to thank Deborah for the work

         18  that she has been doing.  She has been rather busy

         19  this summer catching up with it, and I think coming

         20  up with something that is fair.

         21                 Is the Administration here to testify

         22  on this bill? No.  It is my understanding, my

         23  colleagues, that they have submitted, Bill is

         24  nodding, let the record show that Mr. Giamp

         25  (phonetic) is nodding in the affirmative, in the
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          2  back, their testimony about the bill.

          3                 And I see in no particular order

          4  here, and if you are here, would you just raise your

          5  hand, so I know where we are at, David Hodgkins, and

          6  Pamela Saur (phonetic), Lisa Donner, Deyanira, and

          7  Richard, I have a bad cold today so I cannot speak

          8  anyway, Marseco, no, okay.  And Bertha Lewis, okay,

          9  Mr. Hodgkins, Ms. Saur, and Deyanira, I know I have

         10  got this name wrong.  Could we get an extra chair,

         11  is there a Sergeant here, could we get one more

         12  chair?  Yes, please.  Could you all come up please?

         13                 Thank you all very much for joining

         14  us today.  As I said in our opening statement, we

         15  have had three hearings on this bill.  And I know

         16  some of you have spoken with us at length about

         17  this, so we are anxious to hear what your thoughts

         18  are about this newest bill.  But we would also like

         19  to try and keep it as brief as possible, we all know

         20  the history of predatory lending, so we are not here

         21  to outline the problem today, we are here to address

         22  the solution.  Okay?  Thank you.

         23                 Mr. Hodgkins, could you tell us who

         24  you are and begin?

         25                 MR. HODGKINS:  Yes, my name is Dave
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          2  Hodgkins.  I am representing the AARP.  I am a

          3  member of the Executive Council for the State of New

          4  York, and I have been involved with predatory

          5  lending issue for about two years now in Albany.

          6                 First of all, I would like to thank

          7  you for your support along the line as far as our

          8  efforts are concerned relative to predatory lending

          9  and the legislation.  And I will let you know that

         10  we fully support what you are doing here.  You have

         11  taken on a tough task, a tough issue, but an

         12  extremely important one.

         13                 AARP has requested, very strongly,

         14  that the Governor sign a Statewide piece of

         15  legislation, it has already been passed by the

         16  Assembly and the Senate.  We have been working on

         17  this for a long time, and it is there and we are

         18  waiting.  But as of right now, we do not have a

         19  Statewide piece of legislation.  We, therefore, look

         20  to what you are doing as something extremely

         21  important.  You and any other city in the State of

         22  New York who wants to get involved in this should,

         23  by all means, do so.  You are protecting your own

         24  citizens.

         25                 This legislation is a top priority of
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          2  AARP from a Statewide issue.  It is a top priority

          3  from a national perspective, if you will, because it

          4  is happening across the country.

          5                 There has been a lot of talk over the

          6  years about predatory lending and what it might do

          7  to the industry, what it might do to the people out

          8  there that are getting hurt by it.  Are we going to

          9  dry up money, things of that nature?  I might point

         10  out there is one paragraph that I would like to read

         11  you from a Morgan Stanley Publication, it kind of

         12  says it all.

         13                  "We expected to hear that new

         14  predatory lending laws were crimping growth and

         15  driving capacity out of the margin.  As such, our

         16  thinking was that volume might slow, but that

         17  improving margins would offer a partial offset.

         18  Instead, we discovered that, at least, according to

         19  the 280 of branch managers with whom we conducted

         20  detailed telephonic surveys, new laws, and the

         21  changes in lending practices that have resulted are

         22  not hurting growth. Further, the capacity does not

         23  seem to be exiting the market, rather competition

         24  appears to be healthy."

         25                 That I think is extremely important
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          2  because that is the issue on the other side.  I am

          3  brief, so if you have any questions.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Any

          5  questions of Mr. Hodgkins?  Thank you.  Ms. Saur.

          6                 MS. SAUR:  Good morning.  My name is

          7  Pamela Saur, I am a staff attorney with the

          8  Foreclosure Prevention Project at South Brooklyn

          9  Legal Services.  We are a legal services project,

         10  and we are the only organization in the City with

         11  legal staff dedicated full- time to stopping and

         12  advising homeowners who have been subject to

         13  predatory lending.

         14                 Primarily we work in Central

         15  Brooklyn, which is the middle of the predatory

         16  lending belts, but we have been recently taking

         17  cases all over the City, including out in the Bronx,

         18  including in Queens, because there is a real

         19  shortage of individual offices being able to work on

         20  this.  And that really underscores part of the need

         21  for this legislation.

         22                 I wanted to thank the Consumer

         23  Affairs Committee for all of your hard work over the

         24  months on this bill, and your commitment to this

         25  issue.  We see homeowners daily coming in, upwards
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          2  of five phone calls a day from homeowners coming in,

          3  in foreclosure, afraid that they are going to lose

          4  their homes.  And it is clear that we are just a

          5  drop in the bucket, that this problem is not going

          6  to be solved on the individual level.  There are

          7  some offices taking these cases, providing guidance

          8  individually, but it is just a little corner of the

          9  issue.

         10                 When we go and sit in foreclosure

         11  motion part in Supreme Court, there will sometimes

         12  be 200 cases on the calendar, and out of those,

         13  maybe 10 of the homeowners will be present, and out

         14  of those, maybe one or two will have attorneys.  So

         15  the approach that this bill is taking, which is to

         16  change the market and to prevent this from happening

         17  in the first place, is obviously, a much more

         18  efficient and effective way of changing these

         19  practices, then individual case- by- case basis.  So

         20  we are delighted about this approach.  We are hoping

         21  that we can eventually get legislated out of

         22  business, it should be our goal.

         23                 I wanted to talk a little bit about

         24  some of the specific provisions, briefly.  The bill

         25  definitely attacks some of the worst abuses that we
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          2  have seen.  It has a good approach to the question

          3  of unaffordable loans, ensuring that we do not get

          4  situations where our homeowners actually come in and

          5  they have got mortgage payments that exceed their

          6  monthly income.  There is a good approach to that,

          7  there is the good approach to financing high points

          8  and fees which strips home equity.

          9                 There are a couple of other issues

         10  though, one key issue that I know has been getting

         11  batted about the table is that of assignee

         12  liability, of working on holding the secondary

         13  mortgage- -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Is what?  I did

         15  not understand what you said.

         16                 MS. SAUR:  I am sorry, it is assignee

         17  liability, it is holding the secondary mortgage

         18  market responsible.  A loan will be entered between

         19  an originating lender or a bank, and an individual

         20  homeowner, and often the lender will then sell that

         21  paper down the road.  There is nothing illegal about

         22  that or wrong per se, but the problem that we end up

         23  facing as litigators and as advocates, and as

         24  homeowners, is that homeowners then find themselves

         25  unable to raise defenses and problems with
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          2  origination when they go into foreclosure.  So they

          3  will be sued by someone a couple of steps down the

          4  chain, and they will have very little legal

          5  recourse.

          6                 This bill certainly takes a fairly

          7  strong approach towards that.  I know that there

          8  have been some changes back and forth in the

          9  language about dealing with which kinds of lenders

         10  are going to be considered covered by the bill.  And

         11  I would urge you to look at that pretty carefully,

         12  because otherwise the homeowner ends up being the

         13  one on the hook, where the originating lender made

         14  difficulties.

         15                 The other provision I wanted to speak

         16  to was the flipping provision, which is the practice

         17  where lenders make repeated refinances and strip

         18  equity out each time.  The, I believe the original

         19  draft and some of the language there now speaks to

         20  homeowners being required to get a reasonable and

         21  tangible benefit, which is a very strong approach.

         22  There are some additional language in the bill, at

         23  this point, which talks about homeowners getting a

         24  reduction in total monthly payments.  Basically, the

         25  idea is that if a lender can show that a homeowner's
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          2  total debt went down by taking out a home mortgage

          3  that that would be permissible under the bill.  And

          4  we wanted to caution a little bit in there because

          5  the real concern with flipping is that homeowners

          6  are often persuaded to take a lot of unsecured debt,

          7  credit cards, car payments, hospital bills and to

          8  roll them into their home mortgages.  If they take

          9  out a home mortgage it is very possible that there

         10  monthly payments will go down, but at this point,

         11  they have converted that unsecured into debt that is

         12  secured by their home, and in some cases it can put

         13  them in higher risk of foreclosure.

         14                 So while we applied the general

         15  approach of the flipping, I would urge you to be a

         16  little bit cautious in that area.

         17                 I am brief as well, that is about it

         18  for my comments.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Ms.

         20  Deyanira.

         21                 MS. DEL RIO:  My name is Deyanira Del

         22  Rio, and I am the Fair Lending Projects Director at

         23  NEDAP, the Neighborhood Economic Development

         24  Advocacy Project.  NEDAP is citywide, non profit

         25  resource center, and what we try to do is promote
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          2  financial justice in low- income communities and

          3  communities of color in New York.  We have also been

          4  very involved, like other groups here in efforts of

          5  the State level to pass meaningful legislation that

          6  would actually prohibit many of these predatory

          7  lending practices that you have heard about.  But

          8  we, like others, our colleagues, also are very

          9  appreciative of the efforts of the City Council and

         10  think that a strong ordinance that would prohibit

         11  lenders from doing business with the City and from

         12  getting benefits from the City is also very

         13  importantly needed.

         14                 So I am just here today to talk for

         15  brief comments. I testified at the first hearing of

         16  this Committee, and our Executive Director, Sarah

         17  Ludwig testified at the second hearing. And so I

         18  just wanted to briefly offer our support to the City

         19  Council, and to say that we strongly support the

         20  spirit of this bill and the principal that underlies

         21  it, which is that businesses should not, that

         22  predatory lenders should not be able to do business

         23  with the City.  At the first hearing on this bill,

         24  last April, I think it was, I showed some maps that

         25  showed the concentration of the correlation between
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          2  high cost lending, particularly refinancing mortgage

          3  loans where many of these abuses are concentrated.

          4  And low- income neighborhoods and communities of

          5  color.

          6                 I also spoke about the destabilizing

          7  influence of these subprime loans in such a

          8  concentration, and the correlation between high cost

          9  loans and foreclosures in these communities. When

         10  our director Sarah Ludwig spoke, she talked about

         11  the securitization process and how the process of

         12  securitization effectively sanitizes these loans and

         13  shields financial institutions from liability.

         14                 The comments I am going to provide

         15  today are joined, NEDAP is joined by the New York

         16  Public Interest Research Group (NYPIRG), which has

         17  commented and also provided testimony on prior bill

         18  drafts, and they were unable to be here, but they

         19  join us in these comments.

         20                 We have seen the most current version

         21  of Intro. 67 A, I think it is the most current

         22  version that was issued yesterday, and it actually

         23  corrects some of the deficiencies that we had

         24  planned to comment on that we saw in the prior bill

         25  draft that accompanied the invitation to testify
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          2  here today.  So we wanted to applaud the Committee

          3  for making those changes.  And also, just note one

          4  remaining problem, as we see it, in the bill, that

          5  we would encourage you to change before voting on

          6  the bill. And that would be to lower the criteria

          7  for the financing of points and fees.  We think that

          8  a high- cost home loan should be considered

          9  predatory if the points and fees that are financed

         10  in that loan exceed 3 percent of the loan amount,

         11  rather than 4 percent as is currently stated here.

         12                 You know, the State Anti- Predatory

         13  Legislation that was passed by both Houses and that

         14  now awaits the Governor's signature, that has the

         15  threshold, that limits the financing of points and

         16  fees to 3 percent of the loan amount.  So we feel

         17  that any City ordinance should, at minimum, be as

         18  stringent as the State law, so we would encourage

         19  you to do that.

         20                 You know, you hear about many

         21  different practices that are predatory, and we

         22  consider the financing of points and fees, the

         23  excessive financing of points and fees to be

         24  possibly be the worst feature, or one of the worst

         25  features of predatory lending.  It is really where
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          2  the equity gets stripped from homeowners, and where

          3  the incentives really lie for lenders and brokers to

          4  gouge homeowners.  So we would strongly encourage

          5  you to lower that to 3 percent.

          6                 And finally, we are optimistic that

          7  State legislation will happen, but we encourage the

          8  City Council to move forward and to send its own

          9  strong message to predatory lenders by passing

         10  Intro. 67- A.  So thank you again, for having us at

         11  your hearings, and we, as always, would be more than

         12  happy to provide information or our assistance.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  And

         15  Ms. Del Rio, I am sorry to be mispronouncing your

         16  name, they gave me a cheat sheet that they lied.

         17                 MS. DEL RIO:  That is fine.  I was

         18  actually quite impressed.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I appreciate it.

         20                 MS. DEL RIO:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Are

         22  there any questions of this panel?  No, okay, thank

         23  you very much.

         24                 Bertha Lewis, Gloria Waldron, Don

         25  Baylor, would you all come forward?  In any
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          2  particular order, please, introduce yourselves and

          3  begin.

          4                 MS. LEWIS:  My name is Bertha Lewis,

          5  and I am Executive Director for New York ACORN.

          6                 Good morning, good afternoon, thank

          7  you very much to this Committee for having us here.

          8  I just want to say, we feel like this an historical

          9  day.  Intro. 67- A is a cutting edge piece of

         10  legislation that protects consumers and provides a

         11  compliance road map for secondary market players

         12  that purchase or securitize a large volume of

         13  subprime loans in New York City.

         14                 Before we enter into the bulk of our

         15  testimony, which will be given by the President of

         16  New York ACORN, Gloria Waldron, and our Legislative

         17  Director, Don Baylor, we would just like to mention

         18  the thousands of predatory lending victims across

         19  the City, which has prompted us to be here and to

         20  engage in this fight over the past seven years.

         21                 Several of those victims courageously

         22  came before this Committee to recap their stories,

         23  and when you are a victim of predatory lending,

         24  ladies and gentlemen, sometimes you do not want the

         25  world to know that you have become a victim of this
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          2  practice. So we would just like to say that is the

          3  reason that we are here.

          4                 Also we want to take this opportunity

          5  to commend several individuals on the City Council

          6  staff for understanding this intricate, complicated

          7  issue in such a short time frame, and working and

          8  producing a bill that we know will become a model

          9  for other cities as well as states around the

         10  country.  We would like to commend the sponsor,

         11  Speaker Gifford Miller, especially our Chairperson

         12  of this Committee, Council Member Philip Reed,

         13  Council Member James Sanders, Jr., because all three

         14  of these gentleman had assume the mantle of

         15  leadership by shepherding this bill through this

         16  intensive process and getting us to this stage.

         17                 And in particular we also want to

         18  thank members of this Committee, and the Office of

         19  the General Counsel, including Mr. John Graham who

         20  has worked tirelessly on this.  Our former Committee

         21  Counsel, David Suchman, and current Counsel Deborah

         22  Brown, they really were engaged, they really

         23  understood this issue, and they worked like the

         24  dickens to bring this to this point.  And finally,

         25  we really want to commend the Black and Hispanic
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          2  Caucus leadership, Hiram Monserrate and Helen

          3  Foster.  We also want to include the prime co-

          4  sponsors of this legislation, they were Council

          5  members who helped to make this legislation

          6  possible, Council Member Yvette Clarke, Council

          7  Member Charles Barron, Council Member Bill Perkins,

          8  and Council Member Leroy Comrie. And there were

          9  other key co- sponsors on this.  They recognized how

         10  this problem of predatory lending drains economic

         11  and physical resources from their districts, and

         12  they stood up and lent a strong voice to ensure that

         13  this bill retained its original force and intent.

         14                 And finally, we would like to thank

         15  City Comptroller Bill Thompson, and State

         16  Comptroller Carl McCall for supporting this

         17  legislation, not only now, but in the past.  And

         18  last, but now least, we really want to commend the

         19  Borough Presidents, Marty Markowitz of Brooklyn who

         20  testified at the very first hearing. Also, Borough

         21  President Carrion and Borough President Fields,

         22  because these Borough Presidents have declared that

         23  there Boroughs are predatory- free zones.

         24                 And now I would like to turn it over

         25  to the President of New York ACORN, Ms. Gloria
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          2  Waldron.

          3                 MS. WALDRON:  Thank you, Bertha.  Of

          4  course you have heard my name several times, it is

          5  Gloria Waldron.

          6                 ACORN has been a national leader on

          7  predatory lending, including the passage of laws in

          8  the State of California and the City of Oakland;

          9  bills are also pending in Los Angeles.  In

         10  Washington, Senator Sarbanes and LaFalce have taken

         11  bold steps in drafting strong national legislation.

         12  I remember testifying in the White House and in

         13  Congress, and Senator LaFalce says, how come sub

         14  means under in a normal situation?  How come in this

         15  one it means over?  And he strongly supported the

         16  bill.

         17                 Locally, ACORN holds community

         18  predatory lending meetings in areas particularly

         19  hard- hit by this issue, while ACORN Housing

         20  Corporation holds weekly seminars where hundreds of

         21  first time home buyers learn about a problem of

         22  predatory lending prior to buying a home.  These

         23  City residents receive individual loan and credit

         24  counseling while preparing for their home buying or

         25  refinancing experience.  We encourage Council
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          2  members to host forums and meetings to provide home

          3  buyer education and other preventive tools, and to

          4  refer home buyers to potential predatory lending

          5  victims to us.  Refer home buyers and potential

          6  predatory lending victims to us and other qualified

          7  organizations around the City.

          8                 After this bill passes, ACORN will

          9  continue working on this issue, working with

         10  homeowners and communities, working and negotiating

         11  with banks, working with the City Council to make

         12  sure this bill is enforced properly.  We will

         13  continue to be a resource for this Committee and the

         14  Council on this issue because this is so important

         15  to our membership.  So, we want to remind this

         16  Committee that this is not an end point, but a new

         17  beginning in the he City's commitment to protect

         18  low- and moderate- income residents from predatory

         19  lenders.

         20                 You will find in passing this bill,

         21  it will be a win/win situation.  And I want to

         22  commend this Council for being the bravest and most

         23  decisive of all the Councilors that graced this

         24  office, I sincerely thank you.

         25                 Now I turn it over to Mr. Don Baylor,
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          2  our Legislative Director.

          3                 MR. BAYLOR:  My name is Don Baylor,

          4  Legislative Director for New York ACORN.  I will be

          5  brief so we can move on. I just want to say,

          6  reiterate again, New York ACORN strongly supports

          7  this bill and urges the Consumer Affairs Committee

          8  to pass this bill with unanimous support, and send

          9  the bill to the full Council for a vote this month.

         10                 I just want to spend a few minutes

         11  speaking on why we really think and why others

         12  thinks that this New York City Predatory Lending

         13  Bill ranks among the most aggressive, if not the

         14  most aggressive, cutting- edge pieces of anti-

         15  predatory lending legislation in the entire country,

         16  and moves the national debate in a significant way.

         17  Because many of the business partners that do

         18  business with the City are such large and national

         19  firms, this is going to have a much broader impact

         20  than beyond, you know, beyond the five boroughs.

         21                 I am just going to enumerate, very

         22  quickly, somewhat of a laundry list as to why this

         23  bill is so significant.

         24                 The sheer magnitude of New York

         25  City's economic force makes this bill especially
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          2  important.  Other localities and states have passed

          3  legislation to combat predatory lending.  The New

          4  York City Council is leveraging the City's vast

          5  economic resources to protect its citizens.

          6                 We also think that doing business

          7  with provisions are extremely strong, so that they

          8  include the entire gamut of the financial ties that

          9  the City keeps, contracts, subsidies, deposits, and

         10  investments, it leaves nothing out.

         11                 The high- cost loan thresholds are

         12  among the strongest that have passed nationally,

         13  especially on points and fees.  These thresholds

         14  cover a good portion of subprime loans that are made

         15  in the City and should be an incentive for lenders

         16  to lower their rate and fee structure so that they

         17  can really capture what the true risk is.

         18                 The definition of points and fees

         19  accurately reflects the current marketplace.  This

         20  definition is particularly significant because it

         21  includes yield by premiums, which are merely

         22  payments for putting brokers into expensive and

         23  unaffordable loans.

         24                 In addition, this bill prohibits

         25  balloon payments for all high- cost loans.
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          2  Additionally, all other predatory loan

          3  characteristics are extremely strong and reflect the

          4  wide variety of abusive terms routinely attached to

          5  subprime loans.

          6                 Also, what is really important about

          7  this bill is that it has a really strong mandatory

          8  counseling provision, and this is really what we

          9  call the preventive medicine, this is what you are

         10  able to catch people before they really get

         11  entangled into this net of predatory lending, that

         12  is really, really important. And it is written in

         13  such a way that it becomes extremely significant,

         14  and we really applaud the Committee for working

         15  really, really hard on this to craft this, so that

         16  it really captures the essence of what we are trying

         17  to do here.

         18                 Also, it is really important to note,

         19  that this is not, and we want to reiterate, this is

         20  not a gotcha bill, I mean, that this is not a bill

         21  that seeks out to, you know, catch businesses.  This

         22  bill is really strong, but it is also very fair in

         23  the way that it enforces the law.  There is a safe

         24  harbor provision, there is a chance for companies

         25  secure, so it really has a good amount of checks and
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          2  balances.  And a fact that there is a three- year

          3  term where you are becoming eligible is very, very

          4  appropriate.

          5                 Also, I think one of the most

          6  important things about this bill is the due

          7  diligence provision, which is innovative and ground

          8  breaking.  I know that the City Council paid a lot

          9  of attention to that.

         10                 Just one more thing.  I just want to

         11  say that, you know, we always here the argument,

         12  again, I think it was echoed by the panelists before

         13  us that, you know, the argument against this type of

         14  legislation that it shrinks access to credit.  And

         15  we really want to make the point that it actually

         16  does the opposite, it actually expands access to

         17  fair credit.  Because, you know, it is not good to

         18  just have just credit, it needs to be fair, it needs

         19  to accurately reflect what people's needs are and

         20  what their income is.  And so this actually allows

         21  more low- income City residents to be able purchase

         22  homes in New York City because the points and fees

         23  are down, the interest rates are down.  So your

         24  payment over a 30 year period is going to be lower,

         25  and this actually works to the benefit of low and
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          2  moderate income folks, and this is really, really

          3  significant.

          4                 I am going to turn it over to Bertha

          5  and she will make some concluding thoughts.

          6                 MS. LEWIS:  We feel that as other

          7  panelists may echo that fundamentally mortgage

          8  lending is a two- tier system, where we have

          9  predatory lenders, and then that system filters down

         10  to our financial institutions who fund those

         11  predators.  And this bill, and the scope of this

         12  bill will finally put a stop to this, and we know

         13  that other government agencies, semi- government

         14  agencies, like Freddy Mac and Fannie Mae have taken

         15  this issue as one of their priorities, and will also

         16  work with us and this Committee and the City of New

         17  York in making sure that the compliance is followed

         18  on this bill.  Because, at least, 35 percent of all

         19  subprime borrowers really should be getting a prime

         20  loan.

         21                 So we want to make sure that the

         22  Council and this Committee understand that even

         23  though we have delineated certain populations that

         24  have been affected by this, across the board,

         25  whether you are white, Black, Asian, Latino,
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          2  predatory lenders will eventually find you, whether

          3  you have good credit, fair credit or bad credit.

          4  Predatory lenders will seek you out.

          5                 We have seen a diminution of local

          6  banks in our neighborhoods.  And my grandmother used

          7  to say, if you dig a hole, someone will fill it.

          8  There have been holes in our neighborhoods, and the

          9  subprime lenders have filled it.  While the

         10  conventional banks have opposed this legislation,

         11  part of this problem might be addressed by a real

         12  and systematic outreach of these conventional

         13  banking institutions to those who are under- served

         14  in this City. Let's make sure that we deal with

         15  conventional lenders, the secondary market, Wall

         16  Street, and the financial institutions of New York

         17  City before the predatory lenders reach them.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         20  much.  Before, I know Council Member Sanders has a

         21  question, I wanted to recognize some of our

         22  colleagues who have joined us, Council Member

         23  Brewer, Council Member Clarke.  A member of the

         24  Committee, Council Member Davis, Council Member

         25  Fidler has joined us, and I see Council Member
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          2  Monserrate, who has just come in, thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 Council Member Sanders.

          5                 The panel disappeared, you did not

          6  want to take questions?

          7                 MS. LEWIS:  We are still here.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I'm telling you.

          9                 MS. LEWIS:  We will take questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  No, that is all

         11  right, thank you.

         12                 Are there any comments or questions

         13  from the Committee or other members of the Council,

         14  that want to make a comment?  Yes, just a moment.

         15  Yes, we are about to have a roll call vote on the

         16  bill, so if there are colleagues who are not going

         17  to vote, if you are not a member of this Committee,

         18  and want to make a comment, this would be a good

         19  time to do that.  If you are a member of the

         20  Committee, I would appreciate it if you could wait

         21  until have the roll call to make your comments.

         22                 Council Member Fidler.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I hoped the

         24  absence of a microphone did not mean that you were

         25  trying to discourage.  I am not privileged to be a
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          2  member of your Committee, Chairman Reed.  I am one

          3  of the sponsors of this bill, and I think it is long

          4  overdue.  And I have represented in private

          5  practice, many people who have been the victims of

          6  predatory lending.  It is certainly a crisis in the

          7  Canarsie portion of my district, where the subprime

          8  lenders have come in, taken advantage of people of

          9  all races and all ages, and we need to do something

         10  about it.

         11                 I also would point out while this

         12  legislation will affect those who would be victims

         13  and hopefully keep them from being victims, we need

         14  to do something about those who have been victimized

         15  already.  That we keep in mind organizations that

         16  are seeking funding, even in these difficult times

         17  from the City, like the Perodnick (phonetic)

         18  Foundations that do remediation loans to try to take

         19  people out of the hole that was dug for them by the

         20  predatory lenders.  And I hope this Committee keeps

         21  that in mind as we go forward.  And I wholeheartedly

         22  recommend that the Committee adopt this bill.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         25  Council Member Clarke.  Did I see your hand, Council
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          2  Member Foster?  Council Member Clarke.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chair, and good morning to everyone.  This is

          5  really an historic day in the City of New York.  It

          6  is my hope that this Committee sees the wisdom in

          7  the legislation that has been so thoroughly worked

          8  over for immigrant communities, senior citizens and

          9  communities of color, this has been a protracted

         10  struggle.  I have seen so many families

         11  disintegrated due to the predatory lending practices

         12  that has been allowed to really pervade our

         13  communities for so many, almost generations now.

         14                 This is cutting- edge legislation.  I

         15  think that it votes well for our City.  We are

         16  embarking in a new era, and certainly this

         17  legislation brings the type of relief that our

         18  communities so badly need, particularly when you

         19  look at the fiscal climate that we are operating in,

         20  this is the type of climate that we will find

         21  predatory lenders rear their ugly heads.  And I have

         22  to echo the sentiments of my colleagues, there are

         23  still much more work to be done on this issue for

         24  those who have already been victimized.  And I hope

         25  that this Committee will look into it and come up
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          2  with some remedies that can help ease the burden on

          3  so many of our communities around the City of New

          4  York.

          5                 I want to commend you, Mr. Chair, for

          6  shepherding this through.  I know this has not been

          7  an easy road for you either, but we appreciate the

          8  fact that you stuck to it, that you have remained

          9  focused, and I want to thank the Committee members

         10  in advance for your affirmation of what we know

         11  throughout the City of New York in terms of ending

         12  this practice.

         13                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         15  Council Member Foster.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Thank you,

         17  good morning. Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I just want to

         18  lend my voice to what has been said and applaud you

         19  for your leadership, this Committee, the Black and

         20  Hispanic Caucus, the advocates for working with us,

         21  and Council Member Sanders who really spearheaded it

         22  in terms of the Black and Hispanic Caucus.  And we

         23  are making history, and this is just the beginning

         24  in terms of the fight.  And I agree, we need to be

         25  very mindful of those people who have already
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          2  suffered under predatory lending, and understand as

          3  we move forward, we are making a big step to making

          4  sure it does not happen again, especially in

          5  immigrant communities and communities of color.  And

          6  I would just like to applaud the Speaker's staff for

          7  working with us.  And again, you, Mr. Chair for your

          8  leadership.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         11  much.  Any comments from non- Committee members?

         12  No.

         13                 Will the clerk call the roll, please?

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reed.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  I

         16  would like to explain my vote for a moment.  This

         17  has been a long process, when we started it was

         18  winter, and we are coming around again to that. And

         19  some people, you know, try to look at one side of

         20  this Hall and say, well, they just do this and they

         21  do that.  And then the other side does not seem to

         22  do much.  We have to be very deliberative because

         23  there is 51 of us to get something accomplished.  We

         24  do not have the opportunity to just use a bully

         25  pulpit and say it will be so.
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          2                 But more importantly, we also have to

          3  really take time to listen to what everybody has to

          4  say.  The banks are a significant part of the City

          5  of New York, commerce is a part of New York, it is

          6  what has made New York.  But most importantly the

          7  people who live in New York are the New Yorkers who

          8  we represent, and who we, I think, are trying to

          9  understand how we continue to make their life fair.

         10  And I think that is the nature of this bill. I am

         11  proud of the work that my colleagues have done, if I

         12  did a job of shepherding, it was just trying to keep

         13  everybody in the same place at the same time so we

         14  could have a dialogue.

         15                 This is cutting- edge because it is

         16  so simple, we are just simply saying to people, if

         17  you are going to do business with the City of New

         18  York there is a way that we expect you to behave.

         19                 In the climate that we are all

         20  facing, whether it is next week or last week as we

         21  try to observe the horror that was in front of us,

         22  there is a huge reason for us to be looking at

         23  accountability and responsibility.  We are looking

         24  at the press, we are looking at people talking about

         25  ripping people off, and saying, well, I was not
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          2  supposed to be watching that.  Well the Council is

          3  supposed to be watching a whole lot of things, and

          4  we are.  And I think what we have done in this bill

          5  is to say you cannot do business in the City of New

          6  York and try to ignore your responsibilities to the

          7  citizens of New York.

          8                 I think the bill is fair in the sense

          9  that it has opportunities for people to have a

         10  grievance if there is a charge. There is certainly

         11  an opportunity for the Comptroller to review what

         12  the concerns are and to go back and address this.

         13  So this is not a punitive bill.

         14                 But more importantly, I think we are

         15  setting a standard, and if New York is not going to

         16  set a standard, I do not know who is supposed to set

         17  that standard.  Everybody is looking at us right

         18  now, trying to understand how we are going to move

         19  forward.   So I think the Council can take great

         20  pride in saying to this country, while we are facing

         21  regrowth, while we are facing a renewal of all of

         22  our spirits of democracy, we are also going to look

         23  at fairness for the poorest people in our

         24  communities, we are not going to ignore them.

         25                 So I am delighted to be on this bill,
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          2  to have helped move this forward.  I know we will be

          3  having a challenge, because at the State level, they

          4  will be trying to preempt us.  And I certainly hope

          5  that the work that has been put into this local

          6  legislative body, I will see that up in Albany,

          7  certainly as we debate who should be the Governor,

          8  perhaps, that ought to be part of the conversation

          9  about predatory lending.

         10                 Having said that, I vote aye.  Thank

         11  you.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  ADDABBO:

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Mr.

         14  Chairman, may I be excused to explain my vote?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Please, do.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you.

         17  Prior to becoming a Council member, I was a real

         18  estate attorney and also an attorney for the banks,

         19  the lenders attorney, so I know the industry quite

         20  well.  And saw first- hand in my own neighborhood a

         21  victim of predatory lending.  And while I do have

         22  some minor reservations about the bill as it stands

         23  now, I do think those reservations are greatly

         24  outweighed by the need to do something for the

         25  thousand of families that are negatively impacted by
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          2  predatory lending.

          3                 It is about time that the 51 members

          4  really take a step forward and do something positive

          5  here for those victims of predatory lending.  And

          6  like I say, with those reservations, when we weigh

          7  the pros and the cons of this bill, I think the pros

          8  far outweigh those cons in the negative impact that

          9  predatory lending has on our families.

         10                 So I do vote aye on this Intro. 67-

         11  A.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Barron.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  First let me

         15  start off by saying, I enthusiastically vote aye.

         16                 And Mr. Chairman, may I be excused to

         17  explain my vote?

         18                 I want to commend the Chairman, as

         19  everyone else has done, because this was a very

         20  difficult, political role to navigate, but I think

         21  you showed the skills, the compassion, the

         22  sensitivity, of course, you know we had to

         23  intellect, need I mention that, to get us through

         24  this mission.

         25                 But you know this is the first step,
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          2  I believe, and us finally being headed being toward

          3  being emancipated from some members of the banking

          4  community who hold us hostage by saying that we will

          5  not get anymore credit if we pass a bill like this.

          6  I think we have shown boldness, and we have taken

          7  the initiative to say that we are not buying that.

          8  We are talking about access to fair credit.

          9                 And I know the people of East New

         10  York and the people of Brownsville, and people of a

         11  portion of Canarsie and East Flatbush that we

         12  represent have to be happy about what is going on

         13  today.  Because now they can say that they have been

         14  protected.

         15                 And I am looking for the full

         16  enactment by the City Council, and then more

         17  importantly, enforcement after we do enact it.

         18                 And I say this for all the seniors in

         19  our districts, senior citizens have been, I mean,

         20  those are people who have done so much for us in our

         21  lives, only to now to have to worry about loans, or

         22  predators who prey on them, and I mean, p- r- e- y

         23  not p- r a- y, perhaps, they need to pray a little

         24  more.  But we are going to stop this kind of

         25  behavior.
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          2                 And to the Chairman and to my

          3  leadership in the Black and the Latino and Asian

          4  Caucus, Ms. Helen Foster and Mr. Monserrate, I

          5  really congratulate you for convening us and having

          6  an impact.  And I want to encourage the people of

          7  East New York in our district to look toward ACORN

          8  for loan counseling, credit counseling to get the

          9  proper counseling.  And the ACORN, to Bertha, to

         10  Don, to Gloria, you know, we just thank you so much

         11  for the leadership that you have also provided in

         12  it.

         13                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Davis.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Permission to

         16  explain my vote?  Thank you.

         17                 I echo the sentiments of all the

         18  persons who have been complimented from the Black

         19  and Latino Caucus, the Speaker, Gifford Miller.  But

         20  as I, I would like to acknowledge the Chair,

         21  Chairman Reed, Councilman Reed, but also the members

         22  of this Committee.  The members of his Committee who

         23  were prime sponsors, James Sanders supported of

         24  this, Addabbo supported this, Charles Barron prime-

         25  sponsor, John Liu prime- sponsor, and James E. Davis
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          2  prime- sponsor.  And so we, the members of this

          3  Committee, were right there to stand fast with our

          4  Chairman.

          5                 You know, there is a Scripture that

          6  says about a shepherd, "Thy rod and thy staff, they

          7  comfort me."  Chairman Reed had his staff, that was

          8  us, we were right there with him every single step

          9  of the way to comfort him through this ordeal.

         10                 This is cutting- edge legislation.

         11  Certainly we want to acknowledge ACORN.  This is

         12  what partnership is all about, community, activism,

         13  and the government working together.

         14                 To my wonderful friends in the media,

         15  I think that next time someone makes mention of all

         16  the scandals and all the lack of quality legislation

         17  that comes out of this Council, let them take a look

         18  and remember what took place today.  I think that

         19  the City of New York focus should be on what is

         20  taking place here today.  This is quality

         21  legislation, this is leadership with our Speaker

         22  Gifford Miller, this is fresh democracy Council,

         23  this is the new Council going forward.  And others

         24  that have said because the veterans have moved on,

         25  because there were 38 new members, look what the new
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          2  38 members in partnership with the other returning

          3  members, look at what we have done.

          4                 So whether we lose one or two along

          5  the way, that is not going to stop us from putting

          6  forth good, quality legislation like you see here

          7  today.

          8                 And last, but not least, in my

          9  particular district I am a member of Pride Area

         10  Community Council and we have been out there

         11  fighting against predatory lending.  As a retired

         12  police officer, any time I see the word predatory,

         13  or predator, I have got a problem with it.  You

         14  know, so these are predators that have preyed, as

         15  Reverend Charles Barron said, preyed on our seniors.

         16  And today's legislation we have done something bold

         17  about it.

         18                 So, to my members, to my, I almost

         19  said parishioners, but it is not my parishioners, as

         20  a minister to my constituents in Fort Greene,

         21  Prospect Heights, Crown Heights, we will not forget

         22  you, those that have been victims in the past, we

         23  will not forget you either.  This is a first step in

         24  the right direction.  I wholeheartedly in the name

         25  of all the previous victims of predatory lending, I
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          2  support this overwhelmingly, wholeheartedly,

          3  enthusiastically I vote, Councilman James E. Davis

          4  votes, aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Koppell.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I request

          7  permission to explain my vote?

          8                 Mr. Chairman, first of all, let me

          9  remind my good colleague, Mr. Davis, that I am a

         10  member of the Committee and a sponsor of the

         11  legislation, since he mentioned everyone else.  But

         12  I am sure that was not an intentional oversight.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Let me cut in

         14  the vote.  I did not, I am sorry.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  That is

         16  okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  I am sorry.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  It is okay,

         19  enough said. Mr. Chairman, I support this.  It is a

         20  very complex piece of legislation, I know that the

         21  details of which have been labored over long and

         22  hard, and are very difficult, even for me as an

         23  attorney and someone who has some familiarity with

         24  this to understand.

         25                 One aspect that I would like to call
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          2  to your attention that gives me some concern is that

          3  the legislation does not have what is known as a

          4  severability clause.  And what that is, is of

          5  course, a clause that says that if one part of the

          6  legislation is held to be illegal or

          7  unconstitutional, then the rest should survive.

          8                 I can say as a sponsor of this

          9  legislation that that is my intent.  I think it is

         10  the intent of the body, I think it should be the

         11  intent of the body.  I would urge you, Mr. Chairman,

         12  first to consider if further amendment of the bill

         13  occurs, and it might, because I know things get

         14  amended after they leave Committee, that a

         15  severability clause be introduced.  If not, what I

         16  would suggest is that when the bill comes to the

         17  floor, if you agree, that a statement be made that

         18  the Council intends that if one or another provision

         19  of this bill is held illegal, the rest should

         20  survive.

         21                 The problem here is that a bill so

         22  many different provisions, there is a possibility

         23  that it will be challenged in court.  If it is

         24  challenged in court, it is, you know, there is

         25  always the possibility that one small part of it
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          2  will be declared illegal.  And if the court does not

          3  believe the Council intended the thing to survive,

          4  the court will then hold it the whole law falls.

          5  And that is my concern.  I apologize that I did not

          6  raise this earlier, because I should have.  But it

          7  may not be too late to put it in the bill, if it is

          8  so inclined.  And it certainly is not too late to

          9  make a statement of legislative intent on the

         10  Council floor, which can be introduced in court as

         11  some evidence of the Council's intention.

         12                 So saying that I as a sponsor believe

         13  that all of the provisions of this should certainly

         14  be upheld, but if one or another is not, the

         15  remainder should survive.  I think this is a major

         16  step forward.

         17                 I also might suggest that you, Mr.

         18  Chair and the others who worked on this can take

         19  some credit, if in fact Albany acts, because partly

         20  they will be acting because they are afraid of what

         21  we are doing down here, and that is a very good

         22  thing.

         23                 I vote aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Liu.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I vote yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sanders.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Mr. Chair,

          4  if I can be excused to explain my vote?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Please, do.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Today is a

          7  historic day. I represent a part of Southeast Queens

          8  that is the heart of the predatory lending bill.  I

          9  have met dozens of New Yorkers, many of them my

         10  constituents who have been victimized by predatory

         11  lenders. People of color are targeted as are

         12  immigrants, those shut out of the labor, rather the

         13  credit market, and the elderly.  Their dream of

         14  homeownership is too often transformed into the

         15  nightmares of foreclosure.

         16                 The City Council has the opportunity

         17  to end New York's complicity in these predatory

         18  acts.  Today, this Committee can and it appears has,

         19  can vote for an anti- predatory lending bill that

         20  makes it real difference to New York City's

         21  homeowners, while setting the gold standard for

         22  other cities and states to follow.

         23                 I am blessed that my fellow Council

         24  members have joined me in this vote, which ends an

         25  injustice of dichosonian (phonetic) proportions,
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          2  literally, widows have been tossed into the street

          3  during the Christmas season.  They called the

          4  elderly the greatest generation.  Before this bill,

          5  they too were tossed into the gutters because their

          6  home, well, what was important to them that they

          7  strove for all of their lives, was snatched from

          8  their very hands.

          9                 I am been involved with many worthy

         10  bills since taking the oath of office in January,

         11  none commanded the amount of time and energy, I

         12  gladly expended upon this legislation.  Given the

         13  complexities involved, the Council took a

         14  deliberative approach to the predatory lending bill.

         15    We took time to meet extensively with all

         16  interested parties, ultimately to craft a bill that

         17  I believe will encourage the lending institutions to

         18  engage only in responsible subprime lending.

         19                 In particular, I would like to

         20  commend Speaker Miller for his courage and

         21  leadership, Chairman Reed for his patience and

         22  fairness above and beyond the call of duty.  ACORN

         23  for their persistence and precision, and the Black

         24  and Hispanic Caucus for making their collective

         25  voices heard on a topic of particular importance to
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          2  our constituents of color.

          3                 Some funny things happened along the

          4  way.  The consumer, I remember when the Consumer

          5  Affairs Commissioner was before us and she was

          6  saying how South Brooklyn Legal was handling the

          7  problem, and therefore, we might not even need

          8  anything.  And then someone pointed out that the

          9  City was actually cutting their budget to do this

         10  type of stuff.  That was a funny moment.

         11                 I just refuse to believe that the

         12  banking community is so addicted to predatory

         13  lending and the misery that it causes. I have been

         14  told that if we vote for this, the sky will fall in.

         15  I have been told that somehow the money markets of

         16  New York would dry up and we will all go down the

         17  drain.  I am glad to say that my colleagues

         18  certainly do not feel that way, and as the Chair of

         19  Economic Development for the City, I certainly do

         20  not feel that way at all.

         21                 To the victims past of predatory

         22  lending, an apology is insufficient.  We can only

         23  ensure that there will be fewer victims in the

         24  future in the days to come.  For all of those

         25  victims, who I will just call a generic Mother
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          2  Jones.  Mother Jones, this one is for you, this one

          3  is for you.

          4                 Later this month, the full Council

          5  will vote on this bill, and I anticipate the support

          6  to be overwhelming.  Our Mayor will then be given a

          7  chance to demonstrate his commitment to people of

          8  color, the elderly, homeowners, immigrants and

          9  others, who suffer most from these practices.  I

         10  trust he will take advantage of this opportunity and

         11  send a clear message to lenders, and that message

         12  has to be that if you prey upon New Yorkers, you

         13  will not do business in this City.

         14                 I vote yes, and I thank God for this

         15  vote.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 7 in the

         17  affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no abstentions,

         18  the item is adopted. Council members, please sign

         19  the Committee report.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Colleagues, we

         21  have to sign the report, and I know that we have

         22  asked the Commissioner, and she was patient, but I

         23  think her time has passed, so she had to leave.  We

         24  have some reports that she was going to make, our

         25  Consumer Affairs Commissioner Gretchen Dykstra.  So
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          2  she is not going to be with us.

          3                 So this concludes this hearing.  On

          4  the 24th, we will be having a hearing on cell phones

          5  in public theaters, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera.

          6    You still have time to sign on to my bill.  Since

          7  you thought my leadership was so good on this one,

          8  you can sign onto that bill.  Okay.  Any other

          9  comments from the Committee?  We stand adjourned.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Can I just

         11  say, Oliver.  The whole Committee was standing with

         12  Councilman Reed, Oliver Koppell.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.   We

         14  stand adjourned. Thank you very much.

         15                 (Hearing adjourned at 11:30 a.m.)

         16                 (The following testimony was read

         17  into the record.)

         18

         19  Testimony of:

         20  Michael Smith

         21  New York Bankers Association

         22

         23                 Thank you for the opportunity to once

         24  again express New York Bankers Association's (NYBA),

         25  unwavering opposition to predatory lending
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          2  practices.  We strongly support the wide range of

          3  existing state and federal laws and regulations on

          4  fair lending, and have appeared three times before

          5  governmental bodies this year, (twice before your

          6  Committee and once before the Senate Banks

          7  Committee) to express our commitment to the

          8  development of legislation and regulation that would

          9  achieve the following objectives: Uniformity and

         10  consistency in law and regulation for all financial

         11  services firms doing business in the state;

         12  definitions which ensnare the predators but do not

         13  impair legitimate lenders; and expanded enforcement.

         14    NYBA is comprised of community, regional and money

         15  center commercial banks in the State of New York.

         16  In the aggregate, our members have more than 220,000

         17  employees in the State and City.

         18                 Over the past year, our Association

         19  has worked steadfastly with State legislators and

         20  consumer groups, to help craft a uniform State

         21  standard to help eradicate the problem of predatory

         22  lending in a manner which we believe would be the

         23  most effective approach as it relates to regulated

         24  financial service firms.  In this regard, the New

         25  York State Assembly and Senate have already both
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          2  passed comprehensive high- cost home loan statutes

          3  this year, which, with several modifications that we

          4  are urging be made, we believe will result in the

          5  adoption of a strong State standard, most likely

          6  before the end of the year.  Thus, in keeping with

          7  the substance of Reso. No. 93- A, which calls upon

          8  the New York State Legislature to adopt a single,

          9  statewide standard (and which was passed by your

         10  Committee on May 6, 2002), we urge you to continue

         11  to support a statewide, rather than a local,

         12  solution to this problem.  In this way, we will

         13  avoid the perils inherent in creating a patchwork of

         14  conflicting state and local laws, which will only

         15  apply to a select few market participants, but which

         16  undoubtedly will create confusion and additional

         17  costs, both for the consumers and lenders alike.

         18                 We are particularly concerned that

         19  the thresholds contained in Intro. No. 67- A, which

         20  conflict with and are substantially lower than those

         21  contained in the already passed Assembly and Senate

         22  bills, as well as in current state and federal

         23  regulations, would significantly increase the number

         24  of home loans subject to restrictive provisions.

         25  Thus, the bill could inappropriately label
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          2  legitimate subprime lenders as high cost or even

          3  predatory lenders, a reputational risk which banks

          4  wish to avoid.  We therefore continue to believe

          5  that Intro. No. 67- A could have an adverse effect

          6  on the availability of credit in the subprime market

          7  and would not apply to lenders and others who are

          8  not engaged in business with New York City.

          9                 We applaud you for your interest in

         10  this important issue, and for your call for State

         11  action.  We urge that any action you take

         12  complement, rather than conflict with, state or

         13  federal law.  Thank you.

         14

         15  Testimony of:

         16  John A. Crotty

         17  Director

         18  City Legislative Affairs

         19

         20                 The Administration recognizes that

         21  there have been abuses in the marketing of high-

         22  cost home loans and shares with the Council in

         23  interest in protecting consumers from predatory

         24  practices of certain lenders and contractors in this

         25  area. However, the Administration has fundamental
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          2  objections to this bill.

          3                 The bill, if enacted, purports to

          4  prohibit City agencies from procuring services from

          5  predatory lenders, or their affiliates, or providing

          6  financial assistance to entities found to be

          7  predatory lenders.  The bill relies on the City's

          8  contracting process and its economic development

          9  programs for leverage.

         10                 The Administration objects to the

         11  proposed legislation because it would fail to

         12  protect consumers from predatory lenders; it would,

         13  however, increase the City's cost of doing business,

         14  a cost that is ultimately born by the City's

         15  taxpayers, including the very consumers the Council

         16  claims it seeks to protect.  Intro. 67- A would also

         17  negatively impact the competitive position of the

         18  City's banks, potentially limiting available credit

         19  for home owners in general, including the subprime

         20  borrowers, all without achieving the consumer

         21  protection goals for which the bill is intended.

         22                 Since the beginning of this

         23  Administration, we have worked closely with the

         24  Council and other stakeholders to reform the City's

         25  procurement system so that we can buy what we need
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          2  better, faster and cheaper.  As part of this effort,

          3  we have been examining ways to process in order to

          4  minimize bureaucratic burdens on both vendors and

          5  City agencies.  In fact, the Council has helped

          6  realize some of these goals by passing a legislative

          7  reform package that will begin to remove obstacles

          8  facing companies and non- profit organizations

          9  seeking to do business with the City.  Intro. 67- A,

         10  however, in its present form, will roll back this

         11  progress by imposing burdens on the procurement

         12  system unrelated to the procurement objectives of

         13  buying the best possible products at the lowest

         14  possible costs.

         15                 The Administration does not believe

         16  that Intro. 67- A would have any effect in

         17  protecting consumers because the leverage on which

         18  this bill would rely is largely, if not entirely,

         19  illusory.  The type of financial institution that

         20  engages in predatory lending practices is not of the

         21  stature or size that would be in a position to

         22  provide financial service to the City. In fact, the

         23  bill would likely have the unintended consequence of

         24  driving responsible lenders out of the legitimate

         25  business of making high- cost home loans to people
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          2  with weak credit histories. A fear that

          3  inadvertently violating one of the bills complicated

          4  prohibitions would compromise their eligibility to

          5  continue to do business with the City would lead

          6  lenders to abandon the subprime market.  This,

          7  subprime borrowers could be left with less

          8  responsible alternatives to the opportunistic

          9  predatory lender, who can continue without fear of

         10  losing City business because such business was never

         11  an option in the first place.

         12                 The Administration is concerned that

         13  the legitimate banking business that is essential to

         14  the health of the City's economy would be

         15  compromised by the provisions of this bill without

         16  achieving the social purposes the Council claims are

         17  its goals. Many if not all of the major banks doing

         18  business in this City include to their portfolios of

         19  financial products securities backed by pools of

         20  mortgages.  The City's banks, which compete

         21  nationally with other financial institutions and

         22  meet definitions in the bill of predatory loans.

         23  Intro. 67- A would inject confusion into the City's

         24  economic development programs, hindering their

         25  effectiveness in encouraging employment at a time
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          2  when resources available for this purpose are

          3  limited.

          4                 The Administration also believes that

          5  Intro. 67- A interferes with the legal requirements

          6  of the City's contracting process imposed by State

          7  law.  By preventing the City from awarding contracts

          8  to banks engaged in currently legal practices, the

          9  bill could result in the City purchasing banking

         10  services that are more expensive than otherwise

         11  available banking services of the same quality.

         12  Such an approach violates the New York State General

         13  Municipal Law.

         14                 The Administration has further

         15  objections to the role that the bill would assign to

         16  the Comptroller.  Intro. 67- A contains provisions

         17  that would curtail the executive and contracting

         18  powers of the Mayor and may curtail the powers of

         19  other elected officials under Charter 38(5), thereby

         20  requiring a referendum in order to take effect.

         21                 This bill, which is lengthy and

         22  complex, would implement the kind of red tape that

         23  burdens, rather than protects, the consumer.

         24                 We believe it would accomplish

         25  little, if anything, for City residents who are
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          2  vulnerable to predatory lending tactics.

          3                 We urge the Committee to reject

          4  Intro. 67-A.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 11:30 a.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 4th day of September 2002.
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         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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